

City of Smyrna

2800 King Street Smyrna, Georgia 30080

Meeting Minutes - Final City Council

Monday, April 19, 2021

7:00 PM

A. Max Bacon City Hall Council Chambers 2800 King St SE, Smyrna Ga. 30080

MASKS REQUIRED / TEMPERATURE WILL BE CHECKED

Roll Call

Present: 8 - Mayor Derek Norton, Councilmember Glenn Pickens, Councilmember Austin Wagner, Councilmember Travis Lindley, Councilmember Charles Welch, Councilmember Susan Wilkinson, Councilmember Tim Gould and

Councilmember Lewis Wheaton

Also Present: 1 - Scott Cochran

Staff: 24 - Joe Bennett, Penny Moceri, Heather Peacon-Corn, Tina Monaghan, Roy Acree, Julie Barwig, Jennifer Bennett, Mark Binicewicz, Jon Carter, Phyllis Collins, Lisa Collins, Dustin Davey, Louis Defense, Frank Durrance, Chris Flowers, Robert Harvey, Rick James, Dat Luu, Terry McCormick, Russell Martin, Brian Marcos, Ken Owens, Trey Stevens and Tim Williams

Call to Order

Mayor Derek Norton called the April 19, 2021 Mayor and Council Meeting to order at

1. Invocation and Pledge:

2. Agenda Changes:

A. <u>2021-167</u>

To add Item 2021-166 to agenda under consent as Item E.

Councilmember Travis Lindley made a motion to approve to add Item 2021-166 to agenda under consent as Item E. Councilmember Austin Wagner seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley, Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould and Councilmember Wheaton

3. **Mayoral Report:**

Mayor Norton took a moment to congratulate the Campbell High School Baseball team that clinched the division title on Friday, April 16, 2021. They will be hosting the State Tournament in the coming weeks.

Beginning May 11th, Food Truck Tuesdays will be returning and the summer concert series is slated to begin on June 12th. The Jonquil Fest and Birthday Bash will both take place in the fall.

The vaccine effort in the city is going well. Every Friday from 1:00 PM to 4:00 PM, there will be a vaccine clinic in the large gym at the Community Center. There will also be events in various areas of the city to meet the needs of those that are unable to get far from home.

A. 2021-159

Appointment of Interim Environmental Services Director Julie Barwig to the permanent position of Environmental Services / Keep Smyrna Beautiful Director.

City Administrator Joe Bennett provided background information on Ms. Barwig and her contributions to the city thus far. Ms. Barwig previously served as the Coordinator for Environmental Services / Keep Smyrna Beautiful and upon the previous Director's resignation, was appointed as the Interim Director by Interim City Administrator Joseph Bennett. Ms. Barwig has served in this position for several months with recommendation from the Keep Smyrna Beautiful Board, City Administrator Joseph Bennett has brought her name to the Mayor and Council for approval into this permanent position. The Keep Smyrna Beautiful Board and staff recommend the appointment of Interim Environmental Services Director Julie Barwig to the permanent position of Environmental Services / Keep Smyrna Beautiful Director.

A motion was made and a vote was taken at this time.

Ms. Julie Barwig thanked everyone and noted that she is excited to continue to do great things for the city.

Councilmember Tim Gould made a motion to approve the appointment of Interim Environmental Services Director Julie Barwig to the permanent position of Environmental Services / Keep Smyrna Beautiful Director. Councilmember Charles "Corkey" Welch seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 7 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley, Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould and Councilmember Wheaton

B. 2021-155

Appointment and swearing in of Keith Zgonc as the City of Smyrna Chief of Police as a result of Chief Joseph Bennett's appointment to the position of Smyrna's City Administrator.

Former Smyrna Police Chief and current City Administrator Joe Bennett spoke about Mr. Keith Zgonc and his experience working with him. He then provided additional background information. His 28 year career began in 1991 with the City of Smyrna. In February 2020, Deputy Police Chief Joseph Bennett was appointed and sworn in as Police Chief for the City. In October 2021, Chief Bennett was asked to serve as the Interim City Administrator after the resignation of Tammi Saddler Jones and after six months of service in this capacity, he was appointed and sworn in as the permanent City Administrator, leaving a vacancy in the Police Chief position. Chief Zgonc has previously served as Deputy Police Chief for the City of Sandy Springs and has completed a lengthy and thorough application, interview and background process. The Mayor and City Council

recommend him for the permanent position of Smyrna Chief of Police. Mayor and Council recommend the

appointment and swearing in of Keith Zgonc as the City of Smyrna Chief of Police.

A motion was made and a vote was taken.

Mr. Keith Zgonc was sworn in by the Judge Phyllis Collins surrounded by his family.

Chief Zgonc took a few moments to thank everyone for the opportunity to serve and looks forward to doing great things with and for the City. His wife, children, and parents were present to support him.

Councilmember Travis Lindley made a motion to approve the appointment and swearing in of Keith Zgonc as the City of Smyrna Chief of Police as a result of Chief Joseph Bennett's appointment to the position of Smyrna's City Administrator. Councilmember Lewis Wheaton seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 7 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley,
Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould
and Councilmember Wheaton

C. 2021-130 Presentation to Judge Joel Pugh in recognition of his service as Environmental Court Judge for the City of Smyrna.

City Clerk Heather Peacon-Corn made the presentation of a glass jonquil to Judge Joel Pugh in appreciation for his 8 years of service as Environmental Court Judge for the City of Smyrna.

Judge Pugh and his wife were present to accept the award. He said a few words of thanks and congratulated the new Chief of Police.

D. 2021-123 Recognition of Bella Galloway, Campbell High School Fastpitch Softball

Mayor Norton spoke briefly about Ms. Bella Galloway.

Councilmember Tim Gould has enjoyed watching Ms. Galloway play softball with his daughter who is also on the team at Campbell High School. He asked her, her family, the coach and her principal to come forward. Councilmember Gould provided some highlights and background on her many achievements. Bella Galloway is a Senior at Campbell High School and star Fast Pitch Softball player. She has signed with Kennesaw State University and will be Campbell's first Division 1 Softball Player.

Her achievements include:

- All-State Catcher and First Team All-Region Co-Player of the Year 2020
- Team MVP- 2017-20
- All-Region Honorable Mention 2017
- All-Region Third baseman 2018-19
- □- Marietta Daily Journal all-county honorable mention 2018-19
- Bella's #24 Retired by CHS & Coach Kimball
- □ Signed with Kennesaw State University (Campbell's first Division 1 Softball Player)
- CHS Records held: Games Played (115); Batting Average (.521); Hits (159); Runs Scored (129); Doubles (36); Homeruns (10); RBIs (87)

Mayor Norton and Councilmember Gould presented Ms. Galloway with a Mayor's award and recognition certificate and photos were taken.

E. PRC2021-03 Proclamation in Recognition of Parkinson's Awareness Month

Ward 1 Councilmember Glenn Pickens read aloud the proclamation at the Mayor's request.

Ms. Annie Long, a representative of the Parkinson's organization spoke about the disease and thanked the City for the honor.

Councilmember Pickens presented the proclamation and photos were taken.

F. PRC2021-05 Proclamation in Recognition of Mrs. Lisa Rogers, recipient of the Gifted Program Teacher of the Year 2020

Mayor Norton welcomed Ms. Lisa Rogers and asked Ward 3 Councilmember Travis Lindley to provide some background.

Councilmember Lindley spoke of her many accomplishments and of the ceremony in which she received her award. Mrs. Lisa Rogers of Smyrna Elementary was named Gifted Program Teacher of the Year 2020 by the Georgia Association of Gifted Children (GAGC). The Gifted Program Teacher of the Year Award is presented to a gifted education teacher who has demonstrated exceptional teaching, dedication, and positive parent relations in his/her school, community, or the state of Georgia. He then read aloud the proclamation.

Councilmember Lindley and Mayor Norton presented the proclamation to Ms. Rogers and photos were taken.

4. Land Issues/Zonings/Annexations:

A. 2020-233

Public Hearing - Zoning Request - Z20-006 - Rezoning from NS & RM-10 - Conditional for the development of 8 single-family detached homes at a density of 7.4 units per acre - 1.08 acres - Land Lot 669 - 3302 Atlanta Road - Edgeline, LLC

Councilmember Tim Gould made a motion to table Zoning Request - Z20-006 - Rezoning from NS & RM-10 - Conditional for the development of 10 single-family attached townhomes at a density of 9.3 units per acre - 1.08 acres - Land Lot 669 - 3302 Atlanta Road - Edgeline, LLC - to the May 3, 2021 Mayor & Council meeting. Councilmember Lewis Wheaton seconded the motion.

The motion to table was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 7 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley, Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould and Councilmember Wheaton

B. ORD2021-05 Public Hearing - Approval of Ordinance 2021-05 for the Code Amendment to the City's Code of Ordinance - Sections 402 and 505 -

Home Occupation - City of Smyrna.

City Administrator Bennett read aloud the information relating to this agenda item. The Community Development Department reviewed Sections 402 and 505 of the City's Zoning Ordinance to bring the home occupation requirements inline with the current standards. In recent years, the radius letter requiring the neighbor signatures has become unnecessary and cumbersome to citizens looking to obtain a home occupation certificate. The proposed amendments include:

- 1) Amend Section 402.30 to remove sentences that allow emergency consultation or treatment by physicians, dentists, lawyers and the operation of one-chair salons;
- 2) Removing subsection 505.12;
- 3) Removing references to appearing in front of mayor and council;
- 4) Updating language to reflect current standards; and
- 5) Updating the order and the language of the home occupation conditions.

Planning and Zoning Board approved on April 12, 2021 with a vote of 7-0. Community Development recommends approval of the following code amendments to Section 402 and 505 of the City's Zoning Ordinance.

Councilmember Tim Gould spoke about the importance of making it easier to allow those who work from home to do their business.

The public hearing was announced by Mayor Norton and no one came forward to speak.

Councilmember Tim Gould made a motion to approve of Ordinance 2021-05 for the Code Amendment to the City's Code of Ordinance - Sections 402 and 505 - Home Occupation - City of Smyrna. Councilmember Austin Wagner seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 7 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley, Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould and Councilmember Wheaton

C. ORD2021-08

Public Hearing - Approval of code amendments the City Code of Ordinances to move variance requests from the License and Variance Board to the Mayor and City Council beginning May 3, 2021.

The background information on this agenda item was read aloud by Mr. Joe Bennett. The proposed code amendments will move all variance requests and appeals of administrative decisions from the City's Code of Ordinances from the License and Variance Board and to the Mayor and City Council for final action. These variance requests include variances from the Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance, Property Maintenance Code, Stream Buffer Ordinance, Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Regulations and Urban Design District. In addition, the proposed code amendments will rename the License and Variance Board to the License Board, which will just process licensing requests. Should the proposed code amendment be approved by the City Council, the variance requests will begin to be heard by the City Council at the May 3, 2021 Council Meeting. The proposed text amendments have been sent to the

City Attorney for review and comment. Community Development recommends approval of the proposed code changes related to the variance process.

The public hearing was announced by Mayor Norton and no one came forward to speak.

Councilmember Tim Gould spoke about the reasoning behind the change.

Councilmember Tim Gould made a motion to approve of code amendments the City Code of Ordinances to move variance requests from the License and Variance Board to the Mayor and City Council beginning May 3, 2021. Councilmember Glenn Pickens seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 7 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley, Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould and Councilmember Wheaton

D. 2021-150 Request for name change for apartment complex located at 1000 Belmont Park Drive to Midwood Belmont, LLC dba Midwood Belmont Apartments.

Mr. Bennett provided a brief summary of this agenda item. There has been an ownership change of the apartment complex located at 1000 Belmont Park Drive and a name change has been requested. The requested name change would be from Southern Realty Management, Inc dba Belmont Park Apartments to Midwood Belmont, LLC dba Midwood Belmont Apartments. Yosef Kagan is the Applicant/Manager. The name change has been approved by the Fire Marshal, Building Inspector, City Engineer, 911 Communications, Water Department, City Marshal, and Business License Officer. Request for name change for apartment complex located at 1000 Belmont Park Drive to Midwood Belmont, LLC dba Midwood Belmont Apartments.

The applicant was not present.

Councilmember Travis Lindley made a motion to approve request for name change for apartment complex located at 1000 Belmont Park Drive to Midwood Belmont, LLC dba Midwood Belmont Apartments. Councilmember Charles "Corkey" Welch seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 7 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley,
Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould
and Councilmember Wheaton

5. Privilege Licenses:

A. <u>LIC2021-04</u> Privilege License Request LIC 2021-04 - Beer, Wine, and Liquor (retail pouring) - 652 Concord Road SE - Little Cottage LLC dba Little Cottage with Drew Ihrig as agent.

City Administrator Bennett provided those in attendance with the background information on this request. Drew Ihrig as registered agent for Little Cottage LLC dba Little Cottage requests privilege license for the sale of Beer, Wine, and Liquor (retail

pouring) at 652 Concord Road SE. Drew Ihrig will be the registered agent responsible for the sale of alcohol at the referenced location. Mr. Ihrig has been given a copy of the Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance and attended the mandatory alcohol awareness workshop. A background investigation conducted by the Smyrna Police Department failed to reveal information that would preclude the issuance of this license. Drew Ihrig has agreed to abide by the guidelines set forth by the City of Smyrna ordinance governing the sale of alcohol. Privilege License Request LIC 2021-04 - Beer, Wine, and Liquor (retail pouring) - 652 Concord Road SE - Little Cottage LLC dba Little Cottage with Drew Ihrig as agent.

Mr. Drew Ihrig spoke about his experience with catering and this business and how it seemed to be the ideal way to evolve within the field of event services.

Councilmember Welch asked about capacity of the building. Mr. Ihrig stated that 352 is the legal capacity however, he recommends less people in order to provide more space for ceremony and dancing.

Councilmember Travis Lindley made a motion to approve Privilege License Request LIC 2021-04 - Beer, Wine, and Liquor (retail pouring) - 652 Concord Road SE - Little Cottage LLC dba Little Cottage with Drew Ihrig as agent. Councilmember Austin Wagner seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 7 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley, Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould and Councilmember Wheaton

6. Formal Business:

A. 2021-124

Approval of "The Secrets of Smyrna," a historical street theatre tour, hosted by the Smyrna Arts Council, showcasing some of Smyrna's citizen's of yesteryear and most interesting places. The tour is scripted and performed by Atlanta Theatre-To-Go and is proposed to take place on Saturday, October 16 and Sunday, October 17, 2021 from 5:00 p.m. to 9:30 p.m. The tour will consist of three 45-minute walking tours of various downtown locations and one street closure - Memorial Place between Church Street and Atlanta Road, adjacent to the Smyrna Cemetery.

City Administrator Joe Bennett reviewed the background for this upcoming event. The Smyrna Arts Council is requesting permission for one street closing and approval for two days of street theatre on October 16 and 17, 2021 in the downtown, making use of Memorial Place, the Smyrna Cemetery, the pavilion across from City Hall as well as conduct three 45-minute guided walking tours each evening. This event was approved to take place in 2020 but was cancelled due to COVID-19/pandemic. The 2021 event is a first-time event in Smyrna, presented/managed by the Smyrna Arts Council, organized in conjunction with a professional theatre company (Atlanta Theatre-To-Go). Each tour is proposed to have a maximum of 30 people (25 preferred) with tickets purchased in advance or on-site and plans to post as "sold-out" when maximum for each 45-minute tour is achieved. For more information on Atlanta Theatre-To-Go, visit their website at www.atlantatheatretogo.com. Staff recommends approval of this first-time street theatre event taking place over two evenings, highlighting Smyrna history and culture with street closings and event specifics as requested.

Councilmember Travis Lindley spoke of this being a great program and hopes that many attend.

Councilmember Travis Lindley made a motion to approve of "The Secrets of Smyrna," a historical street theatre tour, hosted by the Smyrna Arts Council, showcasing some of Smyrna's citizen's of yesteryear and most interesting places. The tour is scripted and performed by Atlanta Theatre-To-Go and is proposed to take place on Saturday, October 16 and Sunday, October 17, 2021 from 5:00 p.m. to 9:30 p.m. The tour will consist of three 45-minute walking tours of various downtown locations and one street closure - Memorial Place between Church Street and Atlanta Road, adjacent to the Smyrna Cemetery. Councilmember Austin Wagner seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 7 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley, Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould and Councilmember Wheaton

B. <u>2021-158</u>

Approval of a road closure for a buffer lane on Atlanta Road on April 22, 2021 from 7:00pm until approximately 9:00pm for a Campbell High Glow Walk and authorize the Office of the Assistant City Administrator to approve all necessary documents.

City Administrator Bennett provided the following information on the event. This event will begin on April 22nd at 7pm in the back parking lot of the high school. There will be approximately 100 students that will walk in groups (for Covid purposes) walking down Fleming Street to Atlanta Road. Utilizing the sidewalks, the students will walk south to Brawner Hall. After a rest, they will return northbound on the sidewalks back to Campbell High School. An application for a Special Event has been completed and a virtual meeting completed to answer additional questions the Police Department and Fire Department had regarding the event Staff recommends approval of a road closure for a buffer lane on Atlanta Road on April 22, 2021 from 7:00pm until approximately 9:00pm for a Campbell High Glow Walk and authorize the Office of the Assistant City Administrator to approve all necessary documents.

Councilmember Tim Gould made a motion to approve of a road closure for a buffer lane on Atlanta Road on April 22, 2021 from 7:00pm until approximately 9:00pm for a Campbell High Glow Walk and authorize the Office of the Assistant City Administrator to approve all necessary documents. Councilmember Glenn Pickens seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 7 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley, Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould and Councilmember Wheaton

C. 2021-162 Approval to amend the budget for items not included in the FY 2021 budget adoption.

Information on this item was read by Mr. Joe Bennett. During FY 2021 several expenditures have occurred that were not included in the adopted budget. These items have been discussed with Council at previous meetings for approval. For financial reporting purposes, we need to amend the budget to cover these expenditures. We will be using General Fund reserves (fund balance) for this purpose.

Councilmember Charles "Corkey" Welch made a motion to approve to amend the budget for items not included in the FY 2021 budget adoption. Councilmember Travis Lindley seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 6 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley,
Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Gould and Councilmember
Wheaton

Nay: 1 - Councilmember Wilkinson

D. 2021-163

Approval of Amendment No. 1 to the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Sub Recipient Agreement No: CD21-C21SA and CD21-C21S8 for the reduction in the City's grant award in the total amount of \$29,840.93. This reduces the City's total amount to be received for the 2021 CDBG Allocation to \$278,640.07 and authorize the Mayor to sign and execute all related documents.

Mr. Bennett provided the information relating to this agenda item. Approval of Amendment No. 1 to the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Sub Recipient Agreement No: CD21-C21SA and CD21-C21S8 for the reduction in the City's grant award in the total amount of \$29,840.93. This reduces the City's total amount to be received for the 2021 CDBG Allocation to \$278,640.07 and authorize the Mayor to sign and execute all related documents.

Councilmember Charles "Corkey" Welch made a motion to approve of Amendment No. 1 to the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Sub Recipient Agreement No: CD21-C21SA and CD21-C21S8 for the reduction in the City's grant award in the total amount of \$29,840.93. This reduces the City's total amount to be received for the 2021 CDBG Allocation to \$278,640.07 and authorize the Mayor to sign and execute all related documents. Councilmember Lewis Wheaton seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 7 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley, Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould and Councilmember Wheaton

7. Commercial Building Permits:

A. 2021-113

Issuance of a commercial building permit for construction of a new Kiddie Academy- 3383 South Cobb Drive - Ankory Construction, Inc.

The background on this agenda item was read aloud by City Administrator Joe Bennett. A commercial building permit has been issued at 3383 South Cobb Drive for the construction of a new 11,400 square foot building for the Kiddie Academy. The total estimated cost of the project is \$3,000,000 and Ankory Construction, Inc is listed as the general contractor for the project.

Councilmember Travis Lindley made a motion to approve the issuance of a commercial building permit for construction of a new Kiddie Academy- 3383 South Cobb Drive - Ankory Construction, Inc. Councilmember Glenn Pickens seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 7 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley,
Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould
and Councilmember Wheaton

8. Consent Agenda:

City Administrator Joe Bennett read aloud the consent agenda at the request of Mayor Norton.

Councilmember Tim Gould made a motion to approve the consent agenda as read aloud by City Administrator Joe Bennett. Councilmember Lewis Wheaton seconded the motion.

The motion to approve was carried by the following vote:

Aye: 7 - Councilmember Pickens, Councilmember Wagner, Councilmember Lindley, Councilmember Welch, Councilmember Wilkinson, Councilmember Gould and Councilmember Wheaton

- A. MIN2021-23 Approval of the March 11, 2021 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes.
- **B.** MIN2021-20 Approval of the March 15, 2021 Pre-Council Meeting minutes.
- C. MIN2021-21 Approval of the March 15, 2021 Mayor and Council Meeting minutes.
- **D.** MIN2021-26 Approval of the April 1, 2021 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes.
- E. 2021-166 Approval of the Smyrna Traffic Calming Committees Findings / Next Steps for Wards 3 and 6 as seen on the attachment list and approved under the budget amendment approved on April 19, 2021

9. Ward / Committee Reports:

Councilmember Austin Wagner encouraged everyone take advantage of the Vaccine opportunities throughout the city.

Councilmember Travis Lindley thanked staff for getting the meetings back in City Hall. He congratulated the new police chief. He also thanked Public Works for their hard work in Ward 3 and all around the city.

Councilmember Susan Wilkinson thanked staff for getting everyone back into City Hall for the meetings.

Councilmember Tim Gould invited everyone to participate in Campbell High School clean up this coming Saturday which is being put on by the JROTC program.

Councilmember Lewis Wheaton said it was great to be back in City Hall and then spoke briefly about the wonderful new sports field at Nickajack Elementary.

Mayor Norton made mention of the fact that tomorrow, April 20, 2021 is the one year anniversary of the passing of Officer Ewing and asked that everyone keep his family in

their prayers.

10. Show Cause Hearings:

There were no show cause hearings.

11. Citizen Input:

No one signed up to participate in citizen input.

12. Adjournment:

Mayor Derek Norton adjourned the April 19, 2021 Mayor and Council meeting at 7:54 PM.